
BEFORE THE 

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

SPECIAL EDUCATION DIVISION 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

In the Matter of: 

STUDENT, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

NEWARK UNIFIED SCHOOL  

DISTRICT, 

Respondent. 

OAH CASE NO. N 2006100286 

 

DECISION 

Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Richard M. Clark, Office of Administrative 

Hearings (OAH), Special Education Division, State of California, heard this matter from 

February 7 to 9 and 13 to 15, 2007, in Newark, California. 

Attorneys Stephen Rosenbaum and Patricia Pritikin represented Student. 

Student and Student’s mother (Mother) were present for much of the hearing. 

Attorney Dora Dome represented Newark Unified School District (District). Dr. 

Leslie Koelsch, Director of special education for the District, was present at the hearing. 

Student filed his request for a due process hearing on October 6, 2006. Oral and 

documentary evidence were received during the hearing. The record remained open 

for the submission of written closing arguments by February 26, 2007, when the record 

was closed and the matter was submitted for decision. 
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 ISSUES1

1 On January 17, 2007, Student’s attorney filed a prehearing conference (PHC) 

statement that purported to identify the issues for hearing. At the PHC held on January 

22, 2007, an attempt was made to clarify the issues for hearing. Student was given the 

opportunity to further clarify the issues for hearing by filing a supplemental PHC 

statement no later than January 25, 2007. A further PHC was held on January 26, 2007, 

to further clarify the issues for hearing. Student’s attorney objected to further 

clarification. On January 29, 2007, the ALJ issued a detailed ruling listing what 

information was required by Student to ensure that the issues were properly identified 

for hearing. On February 1, 2007, Student filed a third supplemental PHC statement.  

On February 7, 2007, the first day of hearing, the ALJ dismissed a number of issues for 

hearing that were not sufficiently specified and did not comply with the January 29 

order. A written list of issues for hearing was provided to counsel consistent with the 

February 7, 2007 ruling. On February 15, 2007, Student withdrew two issues from 

hearing. For clarity of decision writing, the issues have been reordered and combined 

by the ALJ but are the same issues that were determined on the first day of hearing. 

 

I. During the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, and 2005-2006 school years, did the 

District deny Student a free appropriate public education (FAPE) by failing to assess him 

in all areas of suspected disability and by failing to conduct sufficiently comprehensive 

evaluations? 

II. Did the District deny Student a FAPE by failing to make a substantively 

appropriate offer for the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, and 2005-2006 school years? 

III. During the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, and 2005-2006 school years, did the 

District deny Student a FAPE by violating the procedural requirements of the Individuals 

with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) which impeded the parent’s right to meaningful 
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participation in the Individual Education Program (IEP) process and resulted in loss of 

educational benefit? 

PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS 

Student seeks the following resolutions if the ALJ finds a FAPE denial by the 

District: 

I. In the area of functional academics: intensive reading remediation, 

including a dyslexia evaluation and treatment, if indicated, as well as transportation to  

any program; speech and language interventions and transportation; comprehensive 

assistive technology evaluation and training as needed; a scanner; computer-based  

reading system and training as needed; writing software program and training as 

needed; calculator use instruction and transportation; remedial math program and 

transportation; a talking calculator; a portable pen reader; high school diploma or 

certificate of  completion; and services from the Recording for Blind and Dyslexic with 

required tape player. 

II. In the area of transition services: comprehensive survival skills, job skills 

evaluation, training, placement and transportation; independent job coach to monitor 

transition progress; explicit instruction of organization and planning strategies; social 

skills training (including interaction and outings) and transportation. 

III. In the area of self-care and vision: Icthyosis self-care plan and counseling; 

vision assessment (binocular, relating to LD (sic)) and therapy if needed. 

IV. Reimbursement for bus or other transportation to all programs and 

evaluations listed above; tuition at Silicon Valley Independent Living Center (SVILC) 

from the time of placement; and bus or other transportation to and from SVILC from 

time of placement. 
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CONTENTION OF THE PARTIES 

For the 2003-2004 school year, Student contends that the District denied him a 

FAPE by failing to assess him in all areas of suspected disability, specifically for an 

auditory processing disorder and failing to assess or adequately assess him for a speech 

and language disorder. For the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, 2005-2006 school years, 

Student contends that the District failed to develop or implement an appropriate 

behavior plan to protect him from bullying at school and to teach him to deal with 

bullying episodes and conflicts; failed to accurately assess his cognitive level of 

functioning, adhering to Larry P. guidelines2; failed to assess his planning and 

organizational (executive function) deficits; and failed to assess his assistive technology 

(AT) needs. For the 2004-2005 school year, Student contends that the behavior plan 

was not implemented at the February 3, 2005 IEP meeting and that the AT assessment 

conducted on March 9, 2005, was inadequate because it did not assess for text to 

speech software, mobile AT devices, and AT devices at school. 

2 Student did not provide the citation or an explanation regarding the Larry P. 

reference. Presumably, Student is referring to Larry P. v. Riles (N.D. Cal. 1979) 495 

F.Supp. 926, affd. in pt., revd. in pt., Lucille P. v. Riles (9th Cir. 1986) 793 F. 2d 969, 

where the federal district court determined that intelligence tests were racially biased 

against African-American students and issued a permanent injunction against the use 

of such intelligence quotient (IQ) tests by school districts in eligibility determinations 

for educable mentally retarded (EMR) students. 

For the 2003-2004 school year, Student contends that the District denied him a 

FAPE substantively by: failing to offer a substantively appropriate program at the May 

21, 2003, and May 25, 2004 IEP meetings because the offers failed to meet the “equality 
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of opportunity, full participation, independent living, and economic self sufficiency”3 

requirements of the IDEA, as amended, and failed to consider the full range of 

supplementary aids and supports that could facilitate Student’s involvement in general 

education before placing him in a more restrictive setting. Student contends that the 

same violation occurred during the 2004-2005 school year at the IEP and Addenda IEP 

meetings held on September 13, 2004, December 15, 2004, February 3, 2005, February 

28, 2005, March 17, 2005, and April 18, 2005, and during the 2005-2006 school year at 

the February 23, 2006 IEP meeting. 

3 The quotation appears to be from the specific findings made by Congress 

prior to implementing the IDEA. (See 20 U.S.C. § 1400(c)(1).) In his closing brief, 

Student’s attorney attributes the quote to J.L. & M.L. v. Mercer Island School Dist. (W.D. 

Wash.) 2006 WL 3628033. A search of Lexis found two cases that might be the case 

that Student referenced. The ALJ found the quotation in J.L. v. Mercer Island Sch. Dist. 

(W.D. Wash., Dec. 8, 2006) 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 89492, *11, upon reconsideration, 

corrected by J.L. v. Mercer Island Sch. Dist. (W.D. Wash., Feb. 10, 2007) 2007 U.S. Dist. 

Lexis 10343.) 

For the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, and 2005-2006 school years, Student contends 

that  the District procedurally denied him a FAPE by: during 2003-2004, failing to 

provide periodic progress reports and failing to develop and implement an appropriate 

transition plan after he turned 14 years old; during 2004-2005, failing to obtain a 

signed IEP for the duration of the school year; allowing Jennifer Rinna to conduct 

psychoeducational assessment on January 13, 2005, without parental consent; failing to 

provide periodic progress reports; failing to develop and implement an appropriate 

transition plan after he turned 14 years old; and determining at the April 18, 2005 IEP 

meeting, without IEP team consensus and without prior written notice, that he was 

ineligible for a certificate of completion; and during 2005- 2006, failing to obtain a 
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signed IEP for the duration of the school year. 

For the 2004-2005 school year, Student contends that the District failed to 

assess him in all areas of suspected disability by: failing to adequately assess him on 

January 10, 2005, for an auditory processing disorder by using the TAPS-UL, which was 

incorrectly normed and did not assess other deficient auditory system functions 

identified in a central auditory processing disorder (CAPD) independent evaluation; 

refusing to evaluate him for an auditory processing disorder on August 28, 2005; failing 

to adequately assess him on February 28, 2005, for a speech and language disorder, by 

use of the CREVT, SPELT-II, CELF-3, which involved a non-standardized probe and were 

not normed for his age and failed to assess his language function related to auditory 

processing deficits; and refusing to evaluate him for a speech and language disorder on 

July 28, 2005. 

For the 2005-2006 school year, Student contends that the District denied him a 

FAPE by failing to assess him in all areas of suspected disability by failing to conduct 

sufficiently comprehensive evaluations in the areas of visual motor integration, adaptive 

behaviors, and speech and language, using instruments appropriate to his disabilities 

and/or using qualified assessors on: January 16, 2005, by use of the Developmental Test 

of Visual Motor  Integration (VMI) which was normed on children outside of his age 

group; and January 16, 2005, Adaptive Behavior Assessment Systems II (ABAS-II), 

because the results were invalid due to unanswered responses and questions. 

For the 2005-2006 school year, Student contends that the District denied him a 

FAPE substantively by failing to provide any therapies to address Student’s learning 

disabilities in the area of: a) Auditory Processing Disorders: based upon evaluation by 

Dr. Judith Paton dated August 6, 2005, which was discussed at the February 23, 2006 

IEP meeting, that should have included auditory integration training, Fast For Word, 

one-on-one reading and math instruction with cognitive level memory strategies, 

interactive metronome, cognitive training, and intensive language training; b) Speech 
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and Language Disorder: should have included dyslexia-therapy, language function 

therapy, therapy to address Student’s expressive and receptive language delays and 

deficits identified by the District, therapy to address articulation problems identified by 

the District, therapy to address weak word recognition skills identified by the District, 

therapy to address short-term memory deficits which impact Student’s speech and 

language skills as identified by the District, and therapy to address Student’s deficient 

phonemic awareness as identified by the District; c) Executive Function Deficits: should 

have included one-to-one instruction; d) Visual Motor Integration: should have 

included therapy to address significant deficits identified by the District; e) Vision 

related deficits: should have included therapy to address deficits identified by the 

District; f) Dysgraphia and fine-motor deficits: should have addressed fine-motor 

problems related to Student’s ability to write by hand; and g) AT: should have included 

therapy and support to allow Student to access technology to address his reading, 

math, language, and executive function deficits identified by the District in the home 

and at school. 

The District counters that it has at all times provided Student with a FAPE. The 

District contends that Student was eligible for special education in the category of 

mental retardation and that any claim by Student that he was learning disabled and not 

mentally retarded is not supported by the assessments and reports provided by 

Student and the District. The District further contends that it properly met all of 

Student’s unique needs, that his educational program was designed to provide him 

educational benefit, that the services he received were as required by his IEP, and that 

the District properly considered all placement options before it made a placement offer 

to Student. The District also contends that it did not commit any procedural violations 

of the IDEA and that the Mother participated extensively in all IEP team discussions and 

decisions. Finally, the District contends that Student’s poor attendance and lack of 

cooperation directly impacted its ability to assess Student’s needs and negatively 
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affected his academic progress. 

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

BACKGROUND 

1. Student is currently 21 years old and resides in the District with his 

mother. Student is eligible for special education under the category of mental 

retardation. Student moved into the District in August 2002 after relocating from the 

Hayward Unified School District (Hayward) where he had an IEP that qualified him for 

special education in the category of mental retardation. Student attended Newark 

Memorial High School (NMHS) until approximately May 12, 2005, when his Mother 

unilaterally removed him from the District and enrolled him at the Silicon Valley 

Independent Living Center (SVILC). Student is not currently receiving educational 

services or attending school in the District. 

2. Student, who is African American, turned 18 years old on January 11, 

2004. He is not under a conservatorship. On December 2, 2004, Student signed a 

document that gave his Mother the authority to make educational decisions for him. 

I. 2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR 

A. Failure to Assess 

3. Student contends that the District failed to assess or adequately assess 

him during the 2003-2004. The District is required to assess Student in all areas related 

to his suspected disability not more than once a year and at least every three years or 

more frequently if the District determines that Student’s educational and related service 

needs warrant a reassessment. 
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AUDITORY PROCESSING DISORDER; SPEECH AND LANGUAGE DISORDER; 

COGNITIVE LEVEL OF FUNCTIONING, ADHERING TO LARRY P. GUIDELINES; 

PLANNING AND ORGANIZATIONAL (EXECUTIVE FUNCTION) 

4. Student’s previous triennial assessment occurred in May 2002 while he 

was a student in Hayward, and his next triennial IEP was due in May 2005. His annual 

IEPs occurred on May 21, 2003, and May 25, 2004. Student failed to offer sufficient 

evidence to indicate that the District was on notice that assessments or a reassessment 

in the areas of auditory processing, speech and language, cognitive functioning, or 

executive functioning during the 2003-2004 school year. Further, Student offered no 

testimony that the psychoeducational assessment was conducted in violation of the 

Larry P. decision. 

5. The May 21, 2003 IEP notes that Student was doing well in his program 

and had improved in all academic areas including math, written expression, and 

reading. He had also improved in the social-emotional area. The IEP reflects that 

Mother stated she had seen growth in Student and that her “son is a different person.” 

6. In addition, the May 21, 2003 IEP had a specified goal for organizational 

difficulties. Student did not otherwise offer sufficient evidence that the goal did not 

address his specific needs in that area or that further testing was warranted. 

Accordingly, Student did not establish that the District failed to assess in the listed 

areas. 

ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY NEEDS 

7. The May 21, 2003 IEP reflects a notation in the case summary that Mother 

requested a referral to the Center for Accessible Technology but there was insufficient 

time to discuss the purpose or appropriateness of the request. There was no follow-up 

by the District or Mother, and it was not discussed again at the next IEP meetings in 

March or May 2004. Mother did not offer any testimony at the hearing about this 
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request. 

8. Student has not provided any testimony or evidence that AT was an area 

of need for Student and there was no other persuasive testimony that Student was not 

able to access his educational program and curriculum without AT devices during 2003-

2004. 

B. Substantive Violations 

9. In order to offer Student a substantive FAPE, the District’s proposed 

program offer must be designed to address Student’s unique educational needs, be 

reasonably calculated to provide some educational benefit to Student, and comport 

with the IEP.  Student contends that the program offers implemented for him during 

the 2003-2004 school years were not appropriate and that, therefore, the District 

denied him a FAPE. 

UNIQUE NEEDS 

10. At the May 21, 2003 annual IEP meeting, the IEP team determined that 

Student had unique needs requiring a functional skills program and continued 

academic support in a small group setting to support his educational success. Student 

continued to have needs in the area of math, reading and written expression. Student 

had improved socially, but still had needs to develop social skills to assist in peer 

interactions. The IEP team discussed that Student had needs in the area of functional 

life skills and needed to develop skills to live more independently. Mother stated that 

Student needed to develop survival level math and reading skills. She did not want 

Student to spend four more years at NMHS, but wanted him “graduated” to a more 

vocational setting. The program offered on May 21 was a more academic based 

program.4 

                                                 
4 The District also discussed Student’s ITP at the May 21, 2003, and May 24, 
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2004 IEP meetings. A more thorough discussion of the ITPs occurs later in this 

decision. 

DESIGNED TO MEET UNIQUE NEEDS AND REASONABLY CALCULATED TO PROVIDE 

EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT 

11. The IEP team reviewed his present levels and developed goals to meet his 

needs in the area of functional living skills for driving and independence in the 

community, math, reading, written expression, peer interaction, and organization, which 

could be worked on in the educational setting. The team structured a program for the 

2003-2004 school year that placed Student in general education for 15 percent of the 

day and special education for 85 percent. His program offered one class per day in 

general education, English in a  resource class, a special day class (SDC) for learning 

handicapped for three classes per day, and work experience for one class per day. The 

team considered the results of the Brigance Inventory of Essential Life Skills and the 

Brigance Inventory of Life Skills given to Student. 

12. At the May 25, 2004 annual IEP meeting, the IEP team discussed that 

Student continued to need a functional skills program to support academic need. The 

IEP team offered Student three classes of general education and two classes in an SDC 

for English and Life Science. Student was recommended for increased work experience 

and ROP. Student  would spend 49 percent of his time in general education and 

51percent of his time in special education. No concerns were expressed related to 

communication, motor development, vocational skills, or social-emotional areas. 

Mother indicated that she would like more options in his work experience program. 

Goals were developed in reading and written expression. The program offered on May 

25 was designed to teach life skills. The IEP team did not have any assessments to 

review since Student refused any assessments and his attendance made it unlikely that 

he had made much progress on his academic goals. 
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BEHAVIOR SUPPORT PLAN TO ADDRESS BULLYING 

13. If a child’s behavior impedes his learning or that of others, an IEP team 

may consider the use of a behavioral support plan (BSP) as a positive behavioral 

intervention and support to address that behavior. Student contends that the District 

did not offer a BSP to address bullying of Student that was occurring at school. 

14. The May 21, 2003 IEP reflects that Student had made great strides socially 

and gets along “fairly well” with his classmates and often plays basketball with other 

students at lunch and break. The IEP notes that Student “has evolved some strategies 

to deal with conflicts with other students and occasional insults” and he attends group 

counseling. 

15. Student did not offer any persuasive testimony that he was subjected to 

bullying at school. Student testified that there were isolated incidents at school 

involving conflicts with other students, but he did not describe the incidents as 

“bullying,” and he was unable to specify a school year. There was no corroboration of 

his testimony from the District or from any of the documents and IEPs received in the 

case. Student did not offer sufficient evidence to meet his burden that bullying 

required a behavior support plan during the 2003-2004 school year. 

COMPORT WITH IEP 

16. The IEP team met again on May 25, 2004, and reviewed the May 21, 2003 

IEP. Student had made progress on his goals and objectives and he received the 

services and program required by his IEP. The services offered at the May 25, 2004 IEP 

were designed to deliver the program and services required by the IEP offer, but the IEP 

team discussed that Student’s attendance was affecting his academic performance. 

17. The District offered the expert testimony of Melinda Pickens, who is 

currently a consultant and instructor in the area of special populations in the general 

education classrooms. It was her opinion after a review of the May 21, 2003, and May 
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25, 2004 IEPs, that the goals and objectives were appropriate based upon Student’s 

functioning levels and that the programs were designed to provide Student educational 

benefit. 

LRE 

18. In order to measure whether a placement is in the LRE, four factors must 

be considered: (1) the academic benefits available to the disabled student in a general 

education classroom, supplemented with appropriate aids and services, as compared 

with the academic benefits of a special education classroom; (2) the non-academic 

benefits of interaction with children who are not disabled; (3) the effect of the disabled 

student's presence on the teacher and other children in the classroom; and (4) the cost 

of mainstreaming the disabled student in a general education classroom.5

5 The cost of mainstreaming was not an issue listed for hearing and will not be 

discussed. 

  

19. Both program offers made at the May 21, 2003, and May 25, 2004 IEP 

meetings contained general education classes and special education classes. Russ Riley, 

program specialist for the District, testified and established that the amount of time 

Student spent with non-disabled peers was considered when the placement offers were 

made on May 21, 2003, and May 25, 2004. Given the nature of Student’s disability and 

the level of academic support needed, the team believed that offering combination 

program of special education and general education would provide the best program 

for Student. Thus, the IEP team properly considered the LRE factors when decided 

upon Student’s placement. 

20. Student did not establish that the District failed to consider other 

placement options or what other services were necessary to meet Student’s needs. 

Student did not offer any testimony or evidence regarding in what manner the IEPs 
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were inappropriate or failed to meet his unique needs. Student also failed to offer any 

testimony or evidence regarding what aids and supports were required to meet 

Student’s needs. 

21. The program offers made to Student took into account his unique needs 

and the nature of his disability. Based upon a review of the IEP documents and 

testimony received during the hearing, the ALJ concludes that the District offered 

Student a FAPE during the 2003-2004 school year. 

C. Procedural Violations 

22. Procedural errors during the IEP process may constitute a denial of FAPE 

when the procedural inadequacies impede the child’s right to a FAPE, cause a 

deprivation of educational benefits, or significantly impede the parent’s opportunity to 

participate in the decision-making process regarding the provision of FAPE. 

PROGRESS REPORTS 

23. An IEP must include when periodic reports of the child’s progress will be 

issued to the parent. Student contends that he never received periodic progress reports 

as required under the IDEA and California Education Code. 

24. Mother testified that she “really doesn’t know” whether she received any 

information about Student’s progress from the District. She never received a written 

progress report, however, for any school year. Mother said she would contact teachers 

and invite them to say how Student was doing at the IEP meetings. 

25. Dr. Leslie Koelsch, the District’s special education director, testified and 

established that Student received the same grade reports periodically as other students 

received. At all IEP meetings, Student’s progress was discussed and goals and 

objectives were reviewed. Even though individual IEP documents did not specify the 

dates that the progress reports were given or how Student did during the progress 
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period, every teacher kept records related to progress on the goals. Dr. Koelsch 

testified persuasively that Student’s progress on goals and objectives were discussed at 

Student’s IEP meetings. 

26. The notes from the May 21, 2003 annual IEP meeting reflect discussion of 

Student’s goals and objectives and indicate that new goals and objectives were added 

based upon IEP team discussions. IEP meetings were held on March 22, 2004, to 

discuss a fight involving student in the cafeteria, and at the annual IEP on May 25, 2004. 

The IEP notes for the March 22, 2004 IEP meeting reflect that the IEP team discussed 

Student’s “credits and potential for graduation,” and included a copy of Student’s 

cumulative grade report dated March 1, 2004. The notes from the May 25, 2004 IEP 

meeting reflect discussion of goals and objectives and attendance problems. Annual  

goals and objectives were drafted and the IEP lists dates for periodic progress to be 

noted in the IEP. 

27. While the IEP documents do not specify the dates when periodic progress 

reports were provided to Student, the overwhelming weight of the testimony and  

evidence shows that the District provided Student with regular updates about his 

progress during the 2003-2004 academic year. 

TRANSITION PLANS 

28. An Individual Transition Plan (ITP) must be developed for all special 

education students when they turn 14 years old and must be reviewed annually 

thereafter.6 Student contends that the District did not develop and implement an 

                                                 
6 At the time this request for due process was filed, individual transition plans 

were required to be developed at the age of 14.  The law was changed in July 2005 to 

indicate that they must be developed and reviewed at age 16. (20 U.S.C. § 

1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII); Ed. Code, §56345, subd, (a)(8).) 
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appropriate transition plan for Student after he turned 14 years old in January 2000. 

29. Student entered the District with an ITP that had been developed in 

Hayward when Student was 14 years old. Mother testified that transition goals and 

plans were discussed, first at Hayward, then at Newark. 

30. At an IEP meeting held on May 21, 2003, the IEP team reviewed and 

discussed a document entitled ITP that had been developed on January 30, 2003, and 

was part of Student’s IEP. Mother attended both meetings. Student was 17 years, 5 

months old. The May 21, 2003 IEP notes reflect extensive discussion about ITP 

programs and work experience offered through the District, including Workability, 

which is the California Department of Education (CDE) transition program, the “SH 

program” and   use of the career center at NMHS. The IEP team developed goals for 

the ITP that were to be implemented over the next year. The notes also reflect that 

Mother requested a variety of work related experience and indicated that she had seen 

progress in Student. Dr. Koelsch testified and established that the ITP was thoroughly 

discussed with input from Mother at the May 21, 2003 meeting. 

31. At a March 24, 2004 IEP meeting, which was called to discuss a fight in 

the cafeteria, Student’s vocational and work experience needs were discussed even 

though it was not an annual IEP meeting. 

32. The notes from the May 25, 2004 IEP meeting reflect extensive discussion 

about transition services for Student and the IEP contains a written ITP plan dated May 

25, 2004. Student and Mother both attended this meeting. Student was 18 years old. 

Workability and participation in the Regional Occupation Program (ROP) were fully 

discussed.  The IEP notes state that Student had been successful in his work experience 

class and recommended ROP for the fall 2004. Additional ITP goals were also 

developed. Accordingly, the District discussed and implemented an ITP program for 

Student during 2003-2004 school year. 
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II. 2004-2005 SCHOOL YEAR 

A. Failure to Assess 

AUDITORY PROCESSING DISORDER USING THE TAPS-UL. 

33. Student contends that the Test of Auditory Perceptual Skills Upper Level 

(TAPS-UL) utilized by school psychologist Jennifer Rinna in her assessment on January 

10, 2005, was not normed properly and that it failed to identify any other auditory 

system deficiencies that were mentioned in an independent central auditory processing 

disorder (CAPD) evaluation prepared by Judith Paton. 

34. Ms. Rinna administered the TAPS-UL to Student as part of her 

psychoeducational assessment on January 10, 2005. The TAPS-UL measures the ability 

to recall words, sentences, and numbers presented orally. Ms. Rinna reported that 

Student scored well below average on the test and she noted that the auditory 

processing scores may be representative of Student’s broader overall cognitive deficits. 

Ms. Rinna did not address the testing norms in her report. 

35. Judith Paton conducted an audiology assessment of Student and 

prepared a report on August 6, 2005, which found Student to have a CAPD. Student 

provided the report to the District on February 23, 2006. Ms. Paton stated that the use 

of the TAPS-UL was outside of her field and area of expertise. She did not comment on 

the norms for the test.   Ms. Paton further found that Student had short-term memory 

problem which could impact   his ability to read, learn math and phonics, and that his 

auditory processing deficits contributed to poor social interactions. Ms. Paton 

recommended extensive remedial services for Student, including Auditory Integration 

Therapy (AIT) which she could provide in her private practice. 

36. Student offered no other evidence or testimony regarding the adequacy 

of the norms for the TAPS-UL. 

37. Colleen Peterson is an audiologist working for the District. She testified 
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and established that there were not audiological studies that support Ms. Paton’s 

conclusions involving central auditory processing issues on students with cognitive 

delays. Ms. Peterson had reviewed at least 30 reports from Ms. Paton that had all 

found the assessed student had a CAPD and recommend AIT. Ms. Peterson testified 

that there are no research-based studies that show AIT works, only anecdotal accounts 

from individuals who say AIT appears to work. The District was aware of Student’s 

auditory processing and language deficits and provided an educational program in a 

special day class to address those difficulties. Ms. Peterson based her opinion and 

relied upon an article and research from Dr. James Bellis, who is a recognized expert in 

the field and works with the American Speech Language Hearing Association (ASHA). 

Dr. Bellis stated that it is not correct to label all auditory processing difficulties as a 

CAPD even if behaviors appear similar to a CAPD when the auditory processing 

disorders are the result of higher order, more global deficits, such as mental 

retardation. Dr. Bellis indicated that not all learning, language and communication 

difficulties are due to CAPD, particularly when there are other cognitive deficiencies 

present. 

38. To the extent that there is a conflict between the two experts, the ALJ 

finds that Ms. Peterson offered more persuasive and compelling testimony. Her 

opinions were supported by research in the field by well known experts and are 

consistent with other experts who testified in the hearing. The ALJ is persuaded that 

Student has mental retardation that causes learning, language and communication 

delays that are not due to a CAPD. 

SPEECH AND LANGUAGE DISORDER BY USE OF THE CREVT, SPELT-II, CELF-3 

38. Student contends that the Structured Photographic Expressive Language 

Test- II (SPELT-II), the Comprehensive Receptive and Expressive Vocabulary Test (A) 

(CREVT), and the Clinical Evaluation of Language Fundamentals 3 (CELF 3) utilized to 
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assess Student on February 28, 2005, were not normed properly and that they failed to 

assess language function related to auditory deficits. Student offered no testimony or 

evidence directly related to this contention. 

39. Even though there is a failure of proof on behalf of the Student, the 

District offered testimony from Bonnie Groth, who testified as an expert in the area of 

speech and language (SL) pathology. She did not assess Student, but reviewed records 

and assessments conducted by the District, including a February 28, 2005 SL 

assessment conducted by Lynn Davies, a SL pathologist working for the District. Ms. 

Davies utilized the SPELT-II, CREVT, and the CELF 3 in her assessment of Student as 

non- standardized probes and limited the measure of present levels of performance, 

noting that she did so due the absence of standardized tests normed for African 

American children, particularly those over the age of 18. Ms. Davies concluded from 

the testing and her observations that Student demonstrated expressive and receptive 

language skills within the range expected for his developmental level and that Student 

had goals and objectives specific to language and processing skills which could be 

worked on and strengthened in his special education program within the classroom 

and vocational setting. Ms. Groth testified that the SPELT-II, CREVT and CELF-3 testing 

only looked at his performance and did not compare him to the normed areas. The 

testing revealed significant impairment in the areas measured but she agreed with the 

recommendations to work on those impairments during the school day and 

environment. 

40. The persuasive weight of the testimony was that the listed tests were 

appropriately used in the evaluation of Student. 
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ALLEGED REFUSAL TO EVALUATE FOR A SPEECH AND LANGUAGE DISORDER ON 

JULY 28, 2005, AND AN AUDITORY PROCESSING DISORDER ON AUGUST 28, 

20057; COGNITIVE LEVEL OF FUNCTIONING, ADHERING TO LARRY P. GUIDELINES; 

AND PLANNING AND ORGANIZATIONAL (EXECUTIVE FUNCTION) 

7 Student lists the date of the refusal to assess for auditory processing deficits 

as August 28, 2005. It appears that the District issued a prior written notice refusing to 

assess Student for a CAPD on July 28, 2005. There was no evidence or testimony 

concerning any request, denial or event from August 28, 2005. 

41. The District offered prior written notice on July 28, 2005, that it was 

refusing to assess Student in the areas of vision behavioral optometry, audiology to 

determine if Student had a CAPD, language, and neurological or medical evaluations. 

According to the prior written notice, the refusal was based upon review of Student’s 

records, reports, observations and research. 

42. Student did not offer sufficient testimony or evidence indicating why the 

District’s refusal was unwarranted or why Student should have been evaluated in the 

listed areas.  There was no evidence or testimony about why or when Student made 

the request for assessment. To the extent that Student relied upon a 

neuropsychological evaluation of Student conducted by Dr. Diamond in May and June 

2006, it was thoroughly discredited on cross examination and is not sufficient to link her 

findings to any assessment or lack of assessment by the District in July 2005, as stated 

in Factual Findings 77 to 83, infra. 

AT NEEDS ON MARCH 9, 2005 

43. Student contends that the District failed to fully assess his AT needs on 

March 9, 2005. 

44. Margaret Mowry-Evans has a master’s degree in orthopedics and is an 
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expert in the area of assistive technology and consults with the District. Mother signed  

an assessment plan consenting to an AT assessment on February 28, 2005. As part of 

the assessment, Ms. Mowry-Evans met with Student and his mother at their home on 

March 9, 2005, to do a home observation and found the conditions less than ideal to 

do an evaluation. She had intended to do further assessments, including an in school 

observation and talk to his teachers, but received notice on March 18, 2005, that 

Mother had withdrawn consent to the AT assessment. Ms. Mowry-Evans prepared a 

report on  her one in home observation of Student which was presented and 

considered at the April 18, 2005 IEP meeting.  A new IEP goal was written based upon 

her assessment for fluent typing and life skills involving near point copying. She 

testified that it was a reasonable goal based upon her report. 

45. The District was able to partially complete an AT assessment of Student 

but was thwarted in its ability to complete a thorough assessment because Mother 

withdrew her consent to the assessment. Student failed to sustain his burden of proof 

that the District conducted an incomplete AT assessment on March 9, 2005. 

B. Substantive Violations  

UNIQUE NEEDS 

46. At Student’s triennial IEP meeting held on February 28 and March 17, 

2005, the IEP team thoroughly reviewed and considered a full range of assessments 

prepared as part of the triennial evaluation. The IEP discussed that Student needed a 

functional skills program that taught vocational training, functional life skills, and skills 

to live more independently. Mother wanted Student’s program to focus more on 

transition services for Student. Attendance continued to be an area of concern. 
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DESIGNED TO MEET UNIQUE NEEDS AND REASONABLY CALCULATED TO PROVIDE 

EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT 

47. Joel Levin is an SDC teacher in Newark where he teaches functional life 

skills, job skills, and daily living skills. He attended the February 3 and 28, and March 

17, 2005  IEP meetings because his class was the proposed placement for Student. His 

class worked   on math, writing, computer skills, speech and cooking. The students 

were mainstreamed for one period per day, during lunch, for adaptive physical 

education, and any electives, and received community based instruction one day per 

week. All programs were based upon individual needs and individual IEPs and it was a 

language based program working on functional life skills. Mr. Levin proposed a 

program for Student that covered work experience, life skills, and job skills that would 

be developed in class. The program was  based upon Student’s assessments and Mr. 

Levin’s conversation with Student whom he had met and interviewed. Mr. Levin utilized 

the Brigance Inventory Life Skills test that was administered by Peter Liu, Student’s case 

manager, to develop goals in the area of personal banking, safety, vocational, work 

experience, social, and life skills. 

48. The proposed program offered 90 percent time in special education with 

the focus on life skills and vocational training, with 10 percent in general education. 

Mother attended and fully participated. The same goals were presented at all three IEP 

meetings but were revised based upon IEP discussions. The IEP team considered where 

best to implement the proposed program at the IEP meetings. 

BEHAVIOR SUPPORT PLAN ON FEBRUARY 3, 2005, TO ADDRESS BULLYING 

49. On February 3, 2005, and addendum IEP meeting was held to discuss 

Student’s schedule. Bullying was not listed as a discussion item at the IEP meeting. 

Student did not offer sufficient testimony to indicate that bullying at school warranted 

a behavior support plan and did not offer testimony or evidence that bullying was an 
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issue on February 3, 2005. IEP meetings were held on December 14, 2004, and 

February 28, 2005, and bullying or the need for a BSP to address bullying was not 

discussed. 

50. The overwhelming weight of the testimony at the hearing revealed that  

Student had isolated incidents with other students and he was often the initiator or 

instigator in those encounters. Student had an incident during work experience in the 

cafeteria that was discussed at the March 22, 2004 IEP meeting and was determined to 

be situational and  related to Student’s work experience responsibilities in the cafeteria. 

Incidents during ROP were discussed at the November 12 and December 15, 2004 IEP 

meetings. The ROP instructor provided a detailed list of behavior incidents involving 

Student and others which listed Student as the initiator. Mother did not attend the 

November 12 IEP, but did attend the December 15 meeting and stated that Student 

would no longer attend ROP. 

51. A BSP was presented at the February 28, 2005 triennial IEP meeting but 

did not list bullying as an area of concern, but was focused on conflicts involving 

Student and his peers that escalate into classroom disruption and verbal defiance by 

Student. There was insufficient proof to establish that a BSP was required for bullying 

on February 3, 2005. 

COMPORT WITH IEP 

52. The program offer was not signed by Mother but offered the necessary 

supports and placements to implement the program. 

53. The District offered the expert testimony of Melinda Pickens, who is 

currently a consultant and instructor in the area of special populations in the general 

education classrooms. It was her opinion, after a review of the February 28, 2005 IEP 

offer that the goals and objectives were appropriate based upon Student’s functioning 

levels and testing. Ms. Pickens believed that the program was designed to provide 
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Student educational benefit. 

LRE 

54. The program offer made at the February 28 and March 17, 2005 IEP 

meetings contained primarily special education services which reflected the best 

placement to implement the functional life skills and vocational program that had been 

developed. Student’s program had changed from an academic based program to a 

more vocationally based program. Mr. Levin testified and established that the amount 

of time Student spent with non-disabled peers was considered and the IEP team 

considered what placement would be best to implement the listed goals. In addition, 

Student’s behavior was becoming increasingly disruptive and it could best be 

addressed in a smaller class setting. Thus, the IEP team properly considered the LRE 

factors when considering Student’s placement. 

55. Student did not establish that the District failed to consider other 

placement options or what other services were necessary to meet Student’s needs. 

Student did not offer any testimony or evidence regarding in what manner the IEPs 

were inappropriate or failed to meet his unique needs. Student also failed to offer any 

testimony or evidence regarding what aids and supports were required to meet 

Student’s needs. 

56. The program offers made to Student took into account his unique needs 

and the nature of his disability. Based upon a review of the IEP documents and 

testimony received during the hearing, the ALJ concludes that the District offered 

Student a FAPE during the 2004-2005 school year. 

C. Procedural Violations  

SIGNED IEP 

57. The District is required to have in place a signed IEP document in effect 
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for each special education student at the beginning of each school year. 

58. Mother signed and consented to the May 21, 2003 annual IEP. Student, 

who was 18 years old, signed and consented to the September 13, 2004 IEP which was 

an addendum to the May 25, 2004 IEP that had not been signed. When Student signed 

the addendum, he agreed to the entire IEP document. On December 2, 2004, Student 

gave  his Mother permission to make educational decision on his behalf, but neither he 

nor his Mother ever revoked the consent to the September 2004 IEP. The triennial IEP 

meeting was held on February 28 and March 17, 2005, but did not result in a signed 

IEP. 

59. The District had a signed IEP in place that covered the period of May 2004 

to May 21, 2005. The District did not have a signed IEP in place from May 21, 2005 to 

the end of the school year, but Student had stopped attending District programs on 

May 12, 2005. The District is technically in violation for failing to have a signed IEP in 

place for the remainder of the school year but any violation is harmless considering that  

Student had stopped attending District programs and enrolled at the SVILC. 

PSYCHOEDUCATIONAL ASSESSMENT WITHOUT PARENTAL CONSENT 

60. Prior to conducting an assessment of Student, the District must present a 

written assessment plan and obtain a signature from the parent granting consent to 

conduct the assessment. Student contends that the District failed to obtain consent 

from Mother prior to conducting a psychoeducational assessment in December 2004. 

61. At the December 15, 2004 IEP meeting, the District presented a written 

assessment plan to Mother that contained the assessments it was seeking for the 

triennial assessment of Student due in February 2005. The District had all of the 

personnel who would be conducting the assessments present at the IEP meeting to 

discuss what each assessment would entail. 

62. District school psychologist Jennifer Rinna attended the December 12, 
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2004 IEP meeting and discussed what she would do as part of her assessment of 

Student. The assessment plan indicated that the school psychologist would conduct an 

assessment of perceptual-motor skills, cognitive functioning, alternative means, 

personal, social and emotional functioning, and behavioral needs. Mother consented 

to the assessment plan, noting that she did not agree to the behavioral testing, 

presumably by a school psychologist, but wanted to have a behavioral specialist 

conduct the behavioral assessment. In response, the District added Dr. Eric Burkholder, 

who was a behavioral analyst to assist Ms. Rinna in the behavioral assessment. Ms. 

Rinna conducted the psychoeducational assessment and issued a written report dated 

January 16, 2005, pursuant to the written consent provided by Mother. 

63. On January 6, 2005, Mother sent a letter to the District indicating that she 

withdrew her consent to the December 15, 2004 IEP but would only agree to the 

assessment testing. Thus, the psychoeducational assessment conducted by Ms. Rinna 

was conducted pursuant to Mother’s consent. 

PERIODIC PROGRESS REPORTS 

64. An IEP must include when periodic reports of the child’s progress will be 

issued to the parent. Student contends that the District failed to give periodic progress 

reports to Mother. 

65. During the 2004-2005 school year, IEP meetings were held on September 

13, November 12, and December 15, 2004 and February 3 and 28, March 17, and April 

18, 2005. Student’s annual IEP meeting for the 2004-2005 school year was held on May 

25, 2004. The notes of the IEP meetings reflect thorough discussion of Student’s goals 

and objectives as well as attendance issues. Grades were thoroughly discussed and a 

cumulative grade report was presented at the February 28, 2005 IEP meeting. Further, 

the November 12, 2004, and March 17, 2005 IEP notes reflect progress on goals listed 

in the IEP. The February 3, 2005 IEP states that Student had not attended school 
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enough to write more about his present levels.8 The IEPs do not contain quarterly 

updates from Student’s teachers, but it was the practice of the District to maintain the 

quarterly reports in the teacher’s files. 

8 The IEP note actually states that “*Student+ has attended school enough to 

write more at this time.” However, through testimony at hearing, the District explained 

that a drafting error omitted the word “not” from the sentence between the words has 

and school. 

66. Considering the number of IEP meetings held during the 2004-2005 

school year, the documented discussion of goals and objectives at those meetings, and 

Student’s attendance issues, it is apparent that Mother was informed during the 2004-

2005 school year about Student’s progress. 

TRANSITION PLAN 

67. The ITP was thoroughly discussed at the March 17, 2005 IEP meeting as 

reflected in the IEP notes and through the testimony of Dr. Koelsch and Betty Sandlin,  

the District’s Workability specialist. Mother attended the meeting. The transition 

planning included discussion about transition goals, education, employment, 

community living skills, among other areas, and lasted nearly two hours. The IEP team 

discussed the Mother’s request for a referral to the Department of Rehabilitation. The 

IEP team considered Student’s needs and goals for transition and allowed Mother to 

have input into transition services for her son. 

68. At the February 3, 2005 IEP, the District made an offer of an aide to 

attend any work experience jobsite with Student but Mother rejected that offer. 

Mother always had opportunity for input at the IEP meetings and frequently asked 

questions. The ITP was individualized to Student and took into account his disability. 

The District more than adequately provided an ITP for Student during the 2004-2005 
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school year. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

69. Before a school district may alter the educational placement of a student, 

the school district must first provide notice to the student’s parents in writing. The 

notice must contain information pertaining to the program proposed and the reasons 

for the proposed change. Student contends that the District failed to provide written 

notice when it decided he was not eligible to receive a certificate of completion (COC). 

70. At the December 15, 2004 IEP meeting, the IEP team discussed whether 

Student was on target to graduate or whether he would be eligible for a COC. The IEP 

notes reflect that Mother understood Student would be earning a COC. At the 

February 3, 2005 IEP meeting, the IEP team discussed that Student was not eligible for a 

diploma but was eligible for a COC and had enough credits to complete high school. 

71. At the April 18, 2005 IEP meeting, the IEP team discussed in detail 

Student’s eligibility for a diploma and for a COC. Student had completed 230 units  

which entitled him to graduate but he would need to pass the California High School 

Exit Exam (CAHSEE). The COC required that Student be making progress on his goals 

and objectives and that he otherwise regularly attend the District program without the 

need to pass the CAHSEE. The IEP team reviewed and discussed Education Code 

section   56390, which covers the requirements for a COC, in detail. The Site team, 

which is the District personnel present at the IEP meeting, determined that Student was 

not eligible for a COC based upon his failing to meet his goals and objectives and his 

poor attendance. Mother fully participated in the discussion but disagreed with the 

conclusion.9  

                                                 
9 The April 18, 2005 IEP contains the Newark Board policy for high school 

completion bearing the revision date of February 7, 2006. The District did not have an 
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72. Prior written notice was not provided but the discussion reflects that the 

issue was thoroughly considered and discussed by the IEP team, which included 

Mother. Thus, there was no loss of educational benefit to Student and Mother fully 

participated in the IEP process. Accordingly, any procedural violation of the IDEA was 

harmless. 

III. 2005-2006 

A. Failure to Assess 

COGNITIVE FUNCTIONING; PLANNING AND ORGANIZATIONAL (EXECUTIVE 

FUNCTION) 

73. Student failed to offer any evidence or testimony that the District was 

aware of the need to evaluate Student’s cognitive or executive functioning during the 

2005-2006 school year. A comprehensive triennial evaluation had occurred in February 

and March 2005. Student did not offer any testimony or evidence that there were 

changed circumstances or that the District was aware that an assessment was 

warranted. Student failed to meet his burden that additional testing was warranted. 

(See, Factual Findings 3 to 6, and 33 to 42, supra.) 

ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY NEEDS 

74. As discussed previously at Factual Findings 43 to 45, Student revoked 

consent to an AT assessment in March 2005, which would have thoroughly evaluated 

his need for AT. Student also stopped attending the District in May 2005, which makes 
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any assessment or evaluation by District staff nearly impossible. Student has failed to 

meet his burden that the District did not adequately assess his AT needs during the 

2005-2006 school year. 

VISUAL MOTOR INTEGRATION AND ADAPTIVE BEHAVIOR EVALUATION 

75. Student contends that the Developmental Test of Visual Motor 

Integration (VMI) and Adaptive Behavior Assessment System-II (ABAS-II) administered 

by school psychologist Jennifer Rinna on January 16, 2005, were inappropriate because 

the VMI used norms outside of Student’s age range and ABAS-II was scored incorrectly. 

76. In her January 16, 2005 assessment of Student, Ms. Rinna reported that 

the testing norms for the VMI were based upon students aged 17 years, 11 months old. 

At the time she administered the VMI, Student was 19 years old. Ms. Rinna reported 

that the testing showed significant difficulty in visual motor integration which may 

affect Student’s ability to function in the classroom. 

77. Dr. Marian Diamond, a clinical psychologist with extensive background 

and experience in education and special education, testified as an expert for Student. 

She conducted a comprehensive assessment of Student in May and June 2006. As part 

of her assessment, she interviewed Mother and Student, but never contacted the 

District or SVILC. Dr. Diamond testified that she assumed the accuracy of records and 

stories told by Mother and Student and made no attempts to verify or clarify 

background information or information found in the records she reviewed. She 

reported that Student had limited work experience opportunities, but she did not know 

that Student had declined a cafeteria job at school and that he had never worked at 

Grocery Outlet as he had reported. She did not know that Student had refused work 

experience if he was not paid; she believed he needed work experience whether paid or 

not. She would not have made the statements in her report or testified that she was 

“stunned” by Student’s lack of vocational training had she known. She did not review 
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any IEP documents for 2003-2004 or the May 25, 2004 IEP, except for the ITP, and it was 

possible that she had not reviewed all of his IEPs when she wrote her report. She was 

uncertain of Student’s eligibility category before entering Newark and indicated that 

Newark “issued a Mental Retardation eligibility statement” for Student. It was Dr. 

Diamond’s opinion that Student was learning disabled. Dr. Diamond was critical of 

prior District assessments and her testimony concluded that Newark’s program for 

Student did not provide him educational benefit from 2003-2006. She made extensive 

recommendations about programs and services necessary to remediate Student’s 

deficits. 

78. On cross examination, Dr. Diamond testified that 70-80 were considered 

low average ranges for IQ, when 70-79 is considered borderline, but indicated that she 

“could be wrong” on the mental retardation range and the ranges found on the 

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Third Edition (WAIS-III), where she was off by 10 

points. She identified Student as low average on the performance IQ because of the 

confidence intervals that correlated to his scores, when Student’s scores on some tests 

would be considered extremely low and on other tests borderline to bottom of the low 

average range. Dr. Diamond testified that placing Student in the “low average” range 

was “a mistake.” 

79. Dr. Diamond also testified on cross examination that it was a “mistake on 

her part” when she stated that Jennifer Rinna’s psychological report from January 16, 

2005, incorrectly scored the ABAS-II because of the high number of unanswered 

questions or guesses. She was unaware that the ABAS-II manual permits scoring if the 

test administrator can interview the responder and state that the answers were not 

guesses. She backtracked from the statement in her report that Ms. Rinna did not 

include information to support stating that Student was in the below average in his 

estimated intellectual functioning. When asked if that was still her opinion, she stated 

she “cannot answer that question.” She also indicated that she “misread” and 
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subsequently misreported portions of the Behavior Assessment of Children-

Adolescence (BASC-A) where teachers rated Student. 

80. Dr. Diamond admitted that combining certain subtest scores on the 

WAIS-III with other subtests would invalidate the test and she admitted that she did not 

give portions of the test that were required. Further, she did not give the most current 

version of the Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS)-Revised, when the most current copy is 

the WMS-III. She testified that it was not necessary to report all subtests on 

standardized testing, but it was not persuasive considering she reported all other tests 

and subtests she gave and was “sure” she gave the specific subtests in question even 

though they were not reported in her report. Dr. Diamond’s credibility on testing issues 

and the validity of her report were severally undermined by the conclusion of her 

testimony. 

81. The District called Dr. Monica Smith to counter Dr. Diamond. Dr. Smith 

had not met or assessed Student but did a thorough record review, including review of 

historical data as far back as 1991 when Mountain View School District found Student 

eligible for special education in the category of mental retardation. Dr. Smith testified 

and established that Ms. Rinna’s assessment for IQ was appropriate given that Student 

is African American and cannot be given the standard IQ tests. It was Dr. Smith’s 

opinion that Ms. Rinna reached an accurate conclusion because putting together all the 

pieces from all the testing conducted by Ms. Rinna supported Student’s eligibility for 

mental retardation and her conclusions are consistent with other testing and prior 

assessments. Student’s testing has remained the same over time from 1991 to 2005, 

and his level of functioning has remained the same or fairly consistent, with scores 

primarily in the mentally retarded range. Dr. Smith testified that one would expect to 

see splinter scores or skills as indication of other diagnoses but since his skills and 

scores have been consistent over time, she believes that the reports, testing, and 

mental retardation category are valid. Student’s developmental milestones are also  
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consistent with mild mental retardation, such as when Student crawled at 9-11 months, 

when the average is 6 months; walked at 18 months-to-two years, when average is 11-

to-13  months; and learned toileting at 5 years, when the average is 2 years. 

82. Further, Dr. Smith testified and established that it is not typical to have a 

learning disability coupled with mental retardation. Dr. Diamond did not provide 

sufficient information to make the determination that performance IQ is the beat 

measure of Student’s ability, particularly since she did not determine his verbal IQ. The 

discrepancies noted are not valid and are not supported by her testing and reporting. 

Dr. Smith was not aware of any testing that the Performance Organization Index (POI) is 

more predictive of cognitive ability and is not aware of any literature that supports that 

hypothesis as reported by Dr. Diamond. Further, Dr. Diamond’s performance IQ score 

was invalid because she used paired subtests for scoring purposes that are not 

permitted by the manual, as was her WAIS-III testing because she used too many 

substitutions of testing results; the manual allows one substitution, Dr. Diamond used 

two. Dr. Diamond’s reliance on performance IQ is questionable because the 

irregularities of the subtests and the performance IQ scores play to Student’s visual 

strengths which brought up his score. Dr. Diamond should have given all the tests to 

get a full picture of Student and then drawn conclusions. If she had followed proper 

procedures, Dr. Smith believes that the scores would have been somewhat lower, which 

would have put his scores into the mild mental retardation range. Dr. Smith does not 

believe that Student is learning disabled (LD). The scores reflect global deficits in 

functioning and not specific deficits more often apparent in LD. 

83. Dr. Smith was a very credible witness. To the extent that there is a 

disagreement and conflict in the opinions of Dr. Diamond and Dr. Smith, the ALJ finds 

that Dr. Smith is more credible. Her opinions were corroborated by other evidence 

received during the hearing and were based upon sound interpretations of testing 

protocols. Dr. Diamond had significant credibility issues with her report and testimony, 
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and was not persuasive. The ALJ is persuaded by the testimony and opinions offered 

by Dr. Smith. 

B. Substantive Violations 

84. Student’s annual IEP meeting was held on February 23, 2006. Mr. Levin 

testified and established that the placement offer at the February 23, 2006 IEP meeting 

was essentially the same placement offer made at the triennial IEP in February 2005 

with the addition of a typing goal based upon the AT assessment partially completed 

by Ms. Mowry- Evans. A representative was present from SVILC to review Student’s 

progress. At the March 29, 2006 IEP, same program was offered in Mr. Levin class. The 

meeting also reviewed and discussed an ITP for Student. As stated previously in Factual 

Findings 46 to 48 and 52 to 56, the offer made at the February 28, 2005 IEP offered a 

FAPE to Student. Accordingly, Student’s program and offer at the February 23, 2006 IEP 

offered Student a FAPE. 

BEHAVIOR SUPPORT PLAN TO ADDRESS BULLYING 

85. Student was not attending a District school or program during the 2005-

2006 school year. The District offered persuasive testimony and evidence that it had no  

knowledge of bullying in any of the school years at issue. As previously discussed in 

Factual Finding 49 to 51, Student has failed to meet his burden on this issue. 

THERAPIES TO ADDRESS LEARNING DISABILITIES 

86. As discussed in Factual Findings 38 to 40 and 73 to 83, Student failed to 

offer sufficient or compelling evidence to show that the District did not meet Student’s 

needs in the area auditory processing, speech and language, visual motor integration 

or AT, or that he was LD. The testimony of Dr. Diamond was discredited and not 

compelling. The ALJ was also not persuaded by the testimony of Ms. Paton related to 

auditory processing deficits. 
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87. Student did not offer sufficient evidence or testimony to support a

finding that Student had difficulty with executive function, vision deficits, dysgraphia 

and fine- motor deficits or that the District was aware of any deficit and failed to meet 

Student’s needs in those areas. To the extent that Student relied upon testimony 

offered by Dr. Diamond for executive functioning deficits, the ALJ is not persuaded by 

her testimony as previously addressed in Factual Finding 83. To the extent that Student 

relied upon the testimony of Leanne Liddicoat, who is a doctor of optometry, the ALJ 

finds an insufficient link between her evaluation of Student on or about February 1, 

2007, and failure of the District to address any vision deficits in Student’s program 

during the 2005- 2006 school year. Student offered no testimony to show that Student 

suffered vision deficits during the timeframe, none were noted in Student’s IEPs, and he 

passed a routine vision test for the February 28, 2005 triennial IEP. 

88. The therapies proffered by Student were not necessary for Student to

receive a FAPE during the 2005-2006 school year. 

C. Procedural Violations

SIGNED IEP 

89. The District is required to have in place a signed IEP document in effect

for each special education student at the beginning of each school year.10   As stated

10 Mother filed a compliance complaint with CDE on January 26, 2005. On May 

5, 2005, CDE found that the District was not in compliance because they failed to have 

a signed IEP in place for the 2005-2006 school year and ordered corrective action. The 

District asked to have CDE reconsider its finding. CDE granted the reconsideration and 

issued a new finding closing the complaint on August 17, 2005, stating that the 

corrective action and order were based upon 34 C.F.R. section 300.350, but ordered 

the District to take corrective action pursuant to 34 C.F.R. section 300.342, which was 
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in Factual Finding 59, the District did not have a signed IEP in place from May 2005 to 

the end of the school year, but the error was harmless. The 2005-2006 school year 

began in August 2005 and Student was not attending a District school or program. 

not contained in the original complaint.  CDE rescinded its earlier finding and closed 

the complaint. 

90. The District held IEP meetings with Mother and Student on February 28, 

March 17, April 18, 2005, with two additional meetings scheduled for May 13 and 31, 

2005, in an attempt to resolve any disputes through the IEP process. Student 

subsequently stopped attending school in May 2005 and on July 27, 2005, the District 

sent a letter to Mother indicating that she had unilaterally placed Student and that the 

District was entitled to observe his placement and enclosed a release of information 

request. The IEP team met again on February 23 and March 29, 2006, in an effort to 

get an IEP in place. 

91. Since Student was not attending the District, there is no violation. 

Further, Student did not offer any information or evidence to support a finding that he 

was denied any educational benefit, particularly since he was attending a non-district 

placement with his Mother’s permission, and the evidence showed that Mother fully 

participated in all IEP discussions. 

APPLICABLE LAW 

1. Under Schaffer vs. Weast (2005) 546 U.S. 49, the party who filed the 

request for due process has the burden of persuasion at the due process hearing. 

Student filed for a due process hearing and bears the burden of persuasion. 

2. Under the IDEA and state law, children with disabilities have the right to 

FAPE. (20 U.S.C. § 1400(d); Ed. Code, § 56000.) FAPE means special education and 

related services that are available to the child at no charge to the parent or guardian, 

                                                                                                                                                           

Accessibility modified document



37 

meet State educational standards, and conform to the child’s IEP. (20 U.S.C. § 

1401(a)(9).) “Special education” is instruction specially designed to meet the unique 

needs of a child with a disability. (20 U.S.C. § 1401(a)(29).) “Related services” are 

transportation and other developmental, corrective and supportive services as may be 

required to assist the child in benefiting from special education. (20 U.S.C. § 

1401(a)(26).) In California, related services are called designated instruction and 

services (DIS), which must be provided if they may be required to assist the child in 

benefiting from special education. (Ed. Code, § 56363, subd. (a).) 

3. There are two parts to the legal analysis of a school district's compliance 

with the IDEA. First, the tribunal must determine whether the district has complied with 

the procedures set forth in the IDEA. (Board of Educ. v. Rowley (1982) 458 U.S. 176, 

206-07.) Second, the tribunal must decide whether the IEP developed through those 

procedures was reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive educational 

benefit. (Ibid.) The IDEA does not require school districts to provide special education 

students the best education available, or to provide instruction or services that 

maximize a student’s abilities. (Id. at p. 198.) School districts are required to provide 

only a “basic floor of opportunity” that consists of access to specialized instruction and 

related services individually designed to provide educational benefit to the student. (Id. 

at p. 201.) 

4. If a child’s behavior impedes his learning or that of others, an IEP team 

must consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other 

strategies, to address that behavior, including a behavior support plan. (20 U.S.C. § 

1414(d)(3)(B)(i); 34 C.F.R. § 300.346(a)(2)(i) ) [currently, 34 C.F.R. § 300.324(a)(2)(i)]; Ed. 

Code, § 56341.1, subd. (b)(1).) 

5. An IEP must contain a statement of the child’s present levels of 

educational performance; a statement of measurable annual goals; a statement of the 

“extent ... to which” a child will not participate in a regular classroom with nondisabled 
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children; a statement of the special education and related services to be provided; and 

a statement of how the child’s progress toward the annual goals will be measured. (20 

U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i); 34 C.F.R. § 300.347(a); Ed. Code, § 56345, subds. (a)(1), (2),& (3).) 

A district must make a formal written offer in the IEP that clearly identifies the 

proposed program. (Union Sch. Dist. v. Smith (9th Cir. 1994) 15 F.3d 1519, 1526.) 

6. Prior to July 1, 2005, an IEP for a student between 14 and 16 years of age 

must contain a transition plan that focuses on the student's course of study. (34 C.F.R. § 

300.347(b)(1).) After July 1, 2005, beginning not later than the first IEP to be in effect 

when the child is 16, and updated annually thereafter, the IEP must contain appropriate 

measurable postsecondary goals based upon age appropriate transition assessments 

related to training, education, employment, and, where appropriate, independent living 

skills and the transition services (including courses of study) needed to assist the child 

in reaching those goals. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIII).) 

7. Written notice must be provided to the parent of a child with a disability a 

reasonable time before the District proposes to initiate or change the identification, 

evaluation, or educational placement of the child or the provision of a FAPE to the 

child. (20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. § 300.503.) If the action proposed by the 

District requires parental consent, the District may give the parent notice at the same 

time it requests parental consent. (34 C.F.R. § 300.503 [comments].) The prescribed 

"prior notice" must contain seven distinct provisions, including a description of the 

action, the rationale for the action, other options considered, and a description of the 

reasons underlying the decision. (20 U.S.C. §1415(c); 34 C.F.R. § 300.503(a).) 

8. School districts are required to provide each special education student 

with a program in the least restrictive environment, with removal from the regular 

education environment occurring only when the nature or severity of the student’s 

disabilities is such that education in regular classes with the use of supplementary aids 

and services could not be achieved satisfactorily. (20 U.S.C. § 1412, subd. (a)(5)(A); Ed. 
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Code, § 56031.) Mainstreaming is not required in every case. (Heather S. v. State of 

Wisconsin (7th Cir. 1997) 125 F.3d 1045, 1056.) However, to the maximum extent 

appropriate, special education students should have opportunities to interact with 

general education peers. (Ed. Code, § 56031.) In order to measure whether a placement 

is in the LRE, four factors must be considered: (1) the academic benefits available to the 

disabled student in a general education classroom, supplemented with appropriate aids 

and services, as compared with the academic benefits of a special education classroom; 

(2) the non-academic benefits of interaction with children who are not disabled; (3) the 

effect of the disabled student's presence on the teacher and other children in the 

classroom; and (4) the cost of mainstreaming the disabled student in a general 

education classroom. (Sacramento Unified School District v. Holland (9th Cir. 1994)14 

F.3d 1398, 1403.) 

9. Each district, special education local plan area, or county office shall have 

an individualized education program in effect for each individual with exceptional 

needs within its jurisdiction at the beginning of each school year. (Ed. Code, § 56344, 

subd. (b).) (34 C.F.R. § 300.323(a).) 

10. Procedural errors in the IEP process do not automatically require a finding 

of a denial of a FAPE. Procedural violations may constitute a denial of FAPE only if the 

procedural inadequacies impeded the child’s right to a FAPE, caused a deprivation of 

educational benefits, or significantly impeded the parents’ opportunity to participate in  

the decision making process regarding the provision of FAPE. (20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E); 

W.G. v. Board of Trustees of Target Range School District No. 23 (9th Cir. 1992) 960 F.2d 

1479, 1484.) Procedural errors during the IEP process are subject to a harmless error 

analysis. (M.L., et al., v. Federal Way School District (9th Cir. 2004) 394 F.3d 634, 650, fn. 

9 (lead opn. of Alarcon, J.).) 

11. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal has endorsed the “snapshot” rule, 

explaining that the actions of the school cannot “be judged exclusively in hindsight…an 
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IEP must take into account what was, and what was not, objectively reasonable when 

the snapshot was taken, that is, at the time the IEP was drafted.” (Adams v. State of 

Oregon (9th Cir. 1999) 195 F.3d 1141, 1149, citing Fuhrman v. East Hanover Bd. Of 

Education (3d Cir. 1993) 993 F.2d 1031, 1041.) The evidence must establish an objective 

indication that the child is likely to make progress. The evidence of progress, or lack 

thereof, must be viewed in light of the limitations imposed by the child’s disability. 

(Walczak v.   Florida Union Free School District (2d Cir. 1998) 142 F.3d 119, 130.) 

12. A child must be assessed by a school district in all areas related to the 

suspected disability including, if appropriate, social-emotional status. (34 C.F.R. § 

300.532(g); Ed. Code, § 56320, subd. (f).) A reassessment of a student shall occur if the 

local educational agency (LEA) determines that the educational or related services 

needs, including improved academic achievement and functional performance, warrant 

a reassessment, or if the parents or teacher request a reassessment. (Ed. Code, § 56381, 

subd. (a)(1).) A reassessment of a student shall occur not more frequently than once a 

year, unless the parents and LEA agree otherwise, and shall occur at least once every  

three years, unless the parents and LEA agree in writing that it is not necessary. (Ed. 

Code, § 56381, subd. (a)(2).) Parental consent must be obtained before an assessment 

is undertaken. (Ed. Code, § 56321.) 

DETERMINATION OF ISSUES 

I. THE DISTRICT DID NOT FAIL TO ASSESS OR CONDUCT SUFFICIENTLY 

COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATIONS OF STUDENT IN ALL AREAS OF DISABILITY DURING 

THE 2003-2004, 2004-2005, AND 2005- 2006 SCHOOL YEARS. 

A. 2003-2004 school year 

1. As stated in Factual Findings 3 to 6 and Applicable Law sections 1 and 12, 

Student did not offer sufficient testimony or evidence to sustain his burden that 

Student was not properly assessed or required additional assessments in the area of 
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auditory processing, speech and language, cognitive functioning, and executive 

functioning. Further, Student did not offer any testimony that the District’s 

assessments were conducted in violation of Larry P in all areas of disability. Student 

also offered no testimony or evidence to suggest that the District was on notice that 

additional assessment were warranted prior to Student’s triennial evaluation that was 

due in May 2005. Accordingly, the District did not fail to assess Student in the listed 

areas. 

2. As stated in Factual Findings 7 and 8 and Applicable Law section 12,  

Student’s May 21, 2003 IEP reflects a request by Mother for a referral to the Center for 

Accessible Technology, but the purpose or appropriateness of the request was not 

discussed at the IEP meeting because of time constraints and there was no follow up 

discussions. Mother did not testify about AT requirements during the hearing. 

Otherwise, there was no evidence offered by Student that an AT assessment was 

required to help Student access his education. To the extent that the Mother’s 

requested referral represented a failure on the part of the District to assess AT, the error 

was harmless considering Student was doing well in his academic program which 

offered him a FAPE as stated in Factual Finding 21. 

B. 2004-2005 school year 

3. As stated in Factual Findings 33 to 38 and Applicable Law section 12, the 

District appropriately assessed Student for an auditory processing disorder using the 

TAPS- UL standardized test. Student offered no testimony or evidence to show that the 

TAPS-UL was normed incorrectly or that the assessment conducted by school 

psychologist Jennifer Rinna failed to identify other auditory system deficiencies. The 

testimony offered by Student’s expert was not persuasive to establish that Student had 

CAPD. The overwhelming weight of the evidence shows that Student was mentally 

retarded. 
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4. As stated in Factual Findings 38 to 40 and Applicable Law section 12, 

Student did not establish that the speech and language assessment conducted by Lynn 

Davies on February 28, 2005, inappropriately used the CREVT, SPELT-II, or CELF-3 

standardized tests in her evaluation. The overwhelming weight of the evidence showed 

that the tests were used as non-standardized probes to measure Student’s 

performance and were not compared to the testing norms, which were outside his age 

range. Accordingly, the District did not fail to properly assess Student for speech and 

language in February 2005. 

5. As stated in Factual Findings 41, 42 and 77-83 and Applicable Law section 

1 and 12, Student did not sustain his burden of proof that the District should have 

provided further evaluation in the areas of auditory processing, speech and language, 

cognitive functioning, or executive functioning. Comprehensive evaluations had been 

conducted for the February 2005 triennial evaluation and Student did not offer any 

information to suggest that the testing was in appropriate or that additional testing 

was warranted. 

6. As Stated in Factual Findings 43 to 45 and Applicable Law section 12, the 

District completed a partial assessment of Student’s AT needs on March 9, 2005, before 

Mother withdrew her consent. The incomplete AT assessment resulted in a new goal 

for Student to address typing and near point copying as a result of the assessment. 

Accordingly, the District did not fail to assess Student’s AT needs on March 9, 2005. 

C. 2005-2006 school year 

7. As Stated in Factual Finding 73 and Applicable Law section 12, a 

comprehensive triennial evaluation occurred in February 2005 that addressed all areas 

of Student’s need. Student did not offer any evidence or testimony to show that a 

further evaluation was required in the areas of cognitive functioning or executive 

functioning, particularly since Student was not attending a District program or school. 
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8. As Stated in Factual Findings 74 and Applicable Law sections 7 and 12, 

the District attempted to complete an AT assessment on Student in March 2005 but 

Mother withdrew her consent. Student was not attending a District program or school 

during the 2005-2006 school year. Student did not meet his burden to show that the 

District did not adequately assess his AT needs during the 2005-2006 school year. 

9. As Stated in Factual Findings 75 to 83 and Applicable Law section 12, the 

District properly utilized the VMI and ABAS-II in the psychoeducational assessment 

conducted by Jennifer Rinna on January 16, 2005. Student’s expert was discredited 

during cross examination and changed her position on the scoring of the ABAS-II. The 

VMI was utilized as a measure of Student’s visual motor integration but was not 

compared to the testing norms. The District’s expert testimony was much more 

credible and believable, and the ALJ was persuaded that the VMI and ABAS-II were 

properly utilized during the assessment. Accordingly, the District did not fail assess 

properly assess Student’s visual motor and adaptive behavior during the 2005-2006 

school year. 

II. THE DISTRICT OFFERED STUDENT A SUBSTANTIVE FAPE DURING THE 2003-

2004, 2004- 2005, AND 2005-2006 SCHOOL YEARS. 

10. As Stated in Factual Findings 9 to 12, 16 to 21, 46 to 48, 52 to 56, and 84, 

and Applicable Law sections 1 to 3, 5, 8, and 11, the District offered Student a program 

that addressed his unique needs and provided him educational benefit in the LRE. 

Accordingly, the District offered Student a FAPE for the 2003-2004, 2004-2005, and 

2005-2006 school years. 

11. As stated in Factual Findings 13 to 15, 49 to 51, and 85, and Applicable 

Law sections 1 to 4, Student did not offer any evidence or testimony to establish that a 

BSP was required to address bullying. The May 21, 2003 IEP states that Student had 

made great social strides and was getting along “fairly well” with his peers. Student 
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was attending group counseling and had developed strategies to deal with conflicts 

with other students. Student did not establish that a BSP was required to address 

bullying on February 3, 2005. The overwhelming weight of the evidence and testimony 

showed that Student had isolated incidents involving peer conflicts but that Student 

was often the initiator in those conflicts. Further, the District did not have any notice 

that a BSP was required to address bullying at school during the 2005-2006 school 

year, particularly since Student was not attending a District program or District school 

that year. Accordingly, the District did not deny Student a FAPE by not instituting a BSP 

to address bullying. 

12. As stated in Factual Findings 86 to 88 and Applicable Law section 1 to 3, 

Student did not demonstrate that he had additional needs and that the District failed to 

offer him additional therapies to address his disabilities in the areas of auditory 

processing; speech and language; executive function; visual motor integration; vision; 

dysgraphia and fine motor; and AT. Accordingly, the District did not deny Student a 

FAPE by not offering additional services in the listed areas during the 2005-2006 school 

year. 

III. THE DISTRICT DID NOT COMMIT PROCEDURAL VIOLATIONS RISING TO THE 

LEVEL OF A FAPE DENIAL DURING THE 2003-2004, 2004-2005, AND 2005-

2006 SCHOOL YEARS. 

A. 2003-2004 school year 

13. As stated in Factual Findings 22 to 27 and Applicable Law sections 1, 5, 

and 10, the District provided Mother periodic progress reports on Student’s progress 

during the school year. Even though the IEPs do not specify the dates that the progress 

reports were given, the overwhelming weight of the testimony and evidence 

demonstrates that Mother received regular updates about Student’s progress during 

the 2003-2004 school year. 
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14. As stated in Factual Findings 28 to 32 and Applicable Law sections 6 and 

10, the District developed and implemented an appropriate transition plan for Student 

during the 2003-2004 school year. 

B. 2004-2005 school year 

15. As stated in Factual Findings 57 to 59 and Applicable Law sections 9 and 

10, the District had a signed IEP in place for the 2004-2005 school year, with the 

exception of May 21, 2005 to the end of the school year. Student was not attending a 

District school or program during this time. Accordingly, any violation was harmless. 

16. As stated in Factual Findings 60 to 63 and Applicable Law sections 10 and 

12, the District did not conduct a psychoeducational assessment of Student in January 

2005 without parental consent. 

17. As stated in Factual Findings 64 to 66 and Applicable Law sections 5 and 

10, the District provided Mother periodic progress reports on Student’s progress during 

the school year. Even though the IEPs do not specify the dates that the progress 

reports were given, the overwhelming weight of the testimony and evidence 

demonstrates that Mother received regular updates about Student’s progress during 

the 2004-2005 school year, particularly in light of the number of IEP meetings that 

occurred that year. 

18. As stated in Factual Findings 67 to 68 and Applicable Law sections 6 and 

10, the District developed and implemented an appropriate transition plan for Student 

during the 2004-2005 school year. 

19. As stated in Factual Findings 69 to 72 and Applicable Law sections 7 and 

10, the District properly considered and found Student ineligible for a Certificate of 

Completion (COC) from high school. While the notice of the denial was not in writing, 

the overwhelming weight of the testimony shows that Mother had more than 

reasonable notice that Student was not eligible for a COC before the comprehensive 
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discussion on April 18, 2005, and participated fully in those discussions. Any error by 

the District was harmless and did not rise to the level of a FAPE denial. 

20. As stated in Factual Findings 89 to 91 and Applicable Law sections 9 and 

10, Student was not attending the District school or program during the 2005-2006 

school year, but multiple IEP meetings were held to resolve any disputes and get a 

signed IEP. While the District did not have a signed on IEP in place at the start of the 

2005-2006 school year, Student was not attending a District school or program and 

had been unilaterally placed by Mother at SVILC on May 12, 2005. Mother had 

regularly attended and participated in all IEP meetings and there was no showing that 

Student was not receiving educational benefit in the new program. Accordingly, any 

violation for failure to have a signed IEP in place was harmless and did not rise to the 

level of a FAPE denial. 

ORDER 

Student’s request for relief against the District is denied. 

PREVAILING PARTY 

Education Code section 56507, subdivision (d), requires that the hearing decision 

indicate the extent to which each party has prevailed on each issue heard and decided. 

The District prevailed on all issues heard and decided. 

 RIGHT TO APPEAL THIS DECISION 

The parties to this case have the right to appeal this Decision to a court of 

competent jurisdiction. If an appeal is made, it must be made within ninety (90) days of 

receipt of this decision. (Ed. Code, §56505, subd. (k).) 
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DATED: March 26, 2007 

________________________________________ 

RICHARD M. CLARK 

Administrative Law Judge  

Special Education Division 

Office of Administrative Hearings 
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